

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP

FORM 10-Q (Quarterly Report)

Filed 11/14/22 for the Period Ending 09/30/22

Address 14497 N. DALE MABRY HIGHWAY

SUITE 209N

TAMPA, FL, 33618

Telephone 813-448-3577

CIK 0001106213

Symbol SFRX

SIC Code 7900 - Services-Amusement and Recreation Services

Industry Business Support Services

Sector Industrials

Fiscal Year 12/31

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022
	or
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the transition period fromto
	Commission File Number 000-29461
	SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP.
	(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
	Florida 90-0473054
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
	14497 N. Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 209-N, Tampa, Florida 33618
	(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)
	(813) 448-3577
	Registrant's telephone number
	Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share
Indi	cate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐ No ☒
Indi	cate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes □ No ⊠

the past 90 days. Yes ⊠ No □

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. \square									
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T ($\S232.405$ of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes \boxtimes No \square									
•	Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):								
Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	_						
Non-accelerated filer	X	Smaller reporting company	X						
		Emerging growth company							
Indicate by check mark whether the re	egistrant is a shell con	npany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes □ No ⊠							
As of November 14, 2022, there were 7,070,348,433 shares of the registrant's common stock, \$.0001 par value per share, outstanding.									
		2							

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP. Form 10-Q For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION	4
Item 1. Financial Statements	5
Consolidated Balance Sheets: September 30, 2022 (unaudited) and December 31, 2021	5
Consolidated Statements of Operations: Three months and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (unaudited)	6
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Deficit: Three months and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (unaudited)	7
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: Nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (unaudited)	8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	9
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	21
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	28
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	28
PART II: OTHER INFORMATION	30
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	30
Item 1A. Risk Factors	30
Item 2. Recent Sales and Other Issuances of Unregistered Securities	30
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities	31
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures	31
Item 5. Other Information	31
Item 6. Exhibits	32
SIGNATURES SIGNATURES	33
	33
3	

Part I: Financial Information

Statements in this Form 10-Q Quarterly Report may be "forward-looking statements." Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements that express our intentions, beliefs, expectations, strategies, predictions or any other statements relating to our future activities or other future events or conditions. These statements are based on our current expectations, estimates and projections about our business based, in part, on assumptions made by our management. These assumptions are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements due to numerous factors, including those risks discussed in this Form 10-Q Quarterly Report, under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and in other documents which we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

In addition, such statements could be affected by risks and uncertainties related to our financial condition, factors that affect our industry, market and customer acceptance, changes in technology, fluctuations in our quarterly results, our ability to continue and manage our growth, liquidity and other capital resource issues, compliance with government regulations and permits, agreements with third parties to conduct operations, competition, fulfillment of contractual obligations by other parties and general economic conditions. Any forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Form 10-Q Quarterly Report, except as required by Federal Securities law.

Item I. Financial Statements

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	September 30 Unaudite			ember 31, 2021
Assets				
Current assets				
Cash	\$	36,394	\$	81,801
Prepaid expenses		-		3,000
Deposits		750		750
Total current assets		37,144		85,551
Property, plant and equipment, net		160,226		176,476
Right of use asset		14,760		27,011
Total Assets	\$	212,130	\$	289,038
Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficit				
Current liabilities				
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	699,173	\$	517,038
Deferred revenue		140,000		140,000
Convertible notes payable, related parties, net of discounts of \$0 and \$3,864, respectively		40,000		2,136
Convertible notes payable, in default		285,300		235,300
Convertible notes payable, in default - related parties		644,500		638,500
Notes payable		· -		50,000
Notes payable, in default		118,000		128,000
Notes payable, in default - related parties		18,500		18,500
Shareholder loan		14,400		7,900
Lease liability, current		15,231		16,876
Total current liabilities		1,975,104		1,754,250
Lease liability, long-term		<u>-</u>		10,718
Total Liabilities		1,975,104		1,764,968
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)				
Stockholders' Deficit				
Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par values - 50,000,000 shares authorized; 67 shares issued				
Series A - 7 shares issued and outstanding				_
Series B - 60 shares issued and outstanding		_		_
Common stock, \$0.0001 par value - 9,900,000,000 shares authorized; 6,837,914,037 and				
6,176,318,579 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively		683,892		617,632
Common stock to be issued, \$0.0001 par value, 46,865,550 and 37,750,000 shares outstanding		005,072		017,032
at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively		4,687		3,775
Unearned compensation		(52,369)		(261,536)
Additional paid in capital		22,216,091		20,714,410
Accumulated deficit		(24,615,275)		(22,550,211)
Total Stockholders' Deficit		(1,762,974)		(1,475,930)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficit	\$	212,130	\$	289,038
Town Dimbinion and Stockholders Delicit	Ψ	414,130	Ψ	209,030

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

	For	For the Three Months Ended September 30,				s Ended		
	20			2021	_	Septem 2022	ber 3	2021
D		22		2021	_	2022	_	2021
Revenue: Service income	¢	4.007		5 5 1 0	¢	11,127	¢	18,922
Service income	\$	4,907		5,548	\$	11,127	\$	18,922
Operating Expenses								
Consulting and contractor expenses		280,948		275,361		1,164,348		787,301
Vessel maintenance and dockage		36,923		28,108		129,837		74,311
Research and development		16,669		112,610		157,876		323,052
Professional fees		9,000		14,008		41,271		68,808
General and administrative expense		166,804		83,048		317,703		287,312
Depreciation expense		5,465		5,465		16,395		16,395
Rent expense		9,144		9,052		35,724		30,526
Travel and entertainment expense		21,854		30,700		56,658		60,021
Total operating expenses		546,807		558,352	_	1,919,812	_	1,647,726
Total operating emperious		2 10,007	<u> </u>	220,322		1,515,012	_	1,017,720
Net loss from operations	(541,900)		(552,804)		(1,908,685)	_	(1,628,804)
Other income (expense)								
Interest expense		(17,027)		(25,761)		(50,129)		(95,848)
Loss on extinguishment of debt		(21,250)		(44,258)		(21,250)		(121,847)
Net loss on settlement of accounts payable		-		(449)		-		(449)
Loss on sale of asset		(85,000)		_		(85,000)		-
Gain on disposal of asset		-		18,500		-		18,500
Total other income (expenses)	(123,277)		(51,968)		(156,379)		(199,644)
Net loss	<u>\$</u> (665,177)	\$	(604,772)	\$	(2,065,064)	\$	(1,828,448)
Basic and diluted loss per share	\$	(0.00)	\$	(0.00)	\$	(0.00)	\$	(0.00)
Weighted average shares outstanding	6,695,	157,207	4,99	1,316,919	6,	,562,530,671	4	,886,341,827

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021 (UNAUDITED)

	Series A Pro	eferred Stock Amount	Series B Pro	eferred Stock Amount	Common S	Stock Amount	Common Stock Shares	to be Issued Amount	Unarned Compensation	Additional Paid in Capital	Accumulated Deficit	Total
Balance December 31, 2020	7	\$ -	60	\$ -	5,315,683,905	\$531,568	1,500,000	\$ 150	\$ (67,058)	\$ 18,513,123	\$ (19,924,797)	\$ (947,014)
Common stock issued for cash	-	-	-	-	75,850,000	7,585	-	-	-	191,965	-	199,550
Stock issued to convert notes payable and accrued interest	-	-	-	-	8,734,640	874	-	-	-	56,774	-	57,648
Amortization of unearned compensation	-	_	_		_	-	_		18,801		_	18,801
Net Loss		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(589,580)	(589,580)
Balance March 31, 2021	7	-	60	-	5,400,268,545	540,027	1,500,000	150	(48,257)	18,761,862	(20,514,377)	(1,260,595)
Common stock issued for cash	-	-	_	-	207,733,334	20,773	35,417,000	3,542	-	467,085	_	491,400
Stock issued to convert notes payable and accrued interest	-	-	-	-	15,594,247	1,559	-	-		77,971	-	79,530
Stock issued for services	_	_	_	_	13,756,154	1,376	_	_	(23,500)	67,675	_	45,551
Amortization of unearned compensation	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	19,010	-		19,010
Net Loss		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(634,096)	(634,096)
Balance June 30, 2021	7	-	60	-	5,637,352,280	563,735	36,917,000	3,692	(52,747)	19,374,593	(21,148,473)	(1,259,200)
Common stock issued for cash	-	-	-	-	198,000,000	19,800	-	-	-	397,200	_	417,000
Stock issued to convert notes payable and accrued interest	-	-	-	-	35,615,390	3,562	-	-	-	142,462	-	146,024
Stock issued for services	-	-	-	-	1,581,182	158	-	-	-	6,173	_	6,331
Amortization of unearned compensation	-	-	-		-		-		19,220	-	-	19,220
Net Loss	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(604,772)	(604,772)
Balance September 30, 2021	7	\$ -	60	\$ -	5,872,548,852	\$587,255	36,917,000	\$ 3,692	\$ (33,527)	\$ 19,920,428	\$ (21,753,245)	\$(1,275,397)
Balance December 31, 2021	7	\$ -	60	\$ -	6,176,318,579	\$617,632	37,750,000	\$ 3,775	\$ (261,536)	\$ 20,714,410	\$ (22,550,211)	\$(1,475,930)
Common stock issued for cash	-	-	-	-	328,000,000	32,800	-	-	-	631,200	-	664,000
Stock issued for services, committed in prior period	_	_	_	_	14,000,000	1,400	(14,000,000)	(1,400)	_	_	_	_
Stock issued for services	_	_	_	_	19,885,913	2,089	-	-	(3,300)	77,183	_	75,972
Cancellation of shares	_	_	_	_	(61,183,646)	·	_	_	-	6,118	_	_
Amortization of unearned compensation	_	_	_	_	-	-		_	85,470	_	_	85,470
Net Loss		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(748,424)	(748,424)
Balance March 31, 2022	7	-	60	-	6,477,020,846	647,803	23,750,000	2,375	(179,366)	21,428,911	(23,298,635)	(1,398,912)

Common stock issued for cash	-	-	-	- 202,500,000	20,250	-	-	-	384,750	-	405,000
Stock issued for services	-	-	-	- 13,924,764	1,392	-	-	_	38,608	-	40,000
Cancellation of shares	-	-	-	- (23,500,000)) (2,350)	-	-	-	2,350	-	-
Amortization of unearned compensation	-	-	-		-	_	-	63,151	-	-	63,151
Net Loss	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	(651,463)	(651,463)
Balance June 30, 2022	7	-	60	- 6,669,945,610	667,095	23,750,000	2,375	(116,215)	21,854,619	(23,950,098)	(1,542,224)
Common stock issued for cash	_	-	-	- 153,123,189	15,312	23,115,550	2,312	-	320,607	-	338,231
Stock issued for services	-	-	-	- 14,345,238	1,435	-	-	-	39,515	-	40,950
Stock issued for financing fees	_	-	-	- 500,000	50	_	-	-	1,350	-	1,400
Amortization of unearned compensation	-	_	-		-	-	-	63,846	-	-	63,846
Net Loss	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	(665,177)	(665,177)
Balance September 30, 2022	7 \$	-	60 \$	- 6,837,914,037	\$683,892	46,865,550 \$	4,687 \$	(52,369) \$	22,216,091	\$ (24,615,275) !	\$(1,762,974 <u>)</u>

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 AND 2021 (UNAUDITED)

	For the Nine M Septem			
	2022	2021		
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:				
Net Loss	\$ (2,065,064)	\$ (1,828,448)		
	(2,000,001)	¢ (1,020,110)		
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:				
Depreciation	16,395	16,395		
Amortization of beneficial conversion feature and loan fees	3,864	75,348		
Amortization of unearned compensation	212,467	57,031		
Common stock issued for services	156,922	51,882		
Financing fees on debt	1,400	-		
Gain on disposal of asset	· -	(18,500)		
Loss on extinguishment of debt	21,250	121,847		
Loss on disposal of asset	85,000	-		
Loss on settlement of accounts payable	- ·	449		
Decrease (increase) in:				
Prepaid expenses and deposits	3,000	98,956		
Deferred revenue		140,000		
Increase (decrease) in:				
Accounts payable & accrued expenses	78,085	21,336		
Net cash from operating activities	(1,486,681)	(1,263,704)		
		(,,.)		
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:				
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	(145)	_		
Proceeds from sale of asset	-	18,500		
Net cash from investing activities	(145)	18,500		
1vet easi from investing activities	(143)	18,300		
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:				
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock	1,404,919	1,107,950		
Proceeds from the issuance convertible notes payable	50,000	-		
Proceeds from the issuance convertible notes payable, related party	40,000	-		
Proceeds from the issuance notes payable, related party	5,000	-		
Payments on convertible notes payable, related party	(10,000)	-		
Payments on notes payable, related party	(5,000)	-		
Payments on notes payable	(50,000)	(2,000)		
Payments to shareholders	6,500	6,000		
Net cash from financing activities	1,441,419	1,111,950		
	(17.107)	(122.27.1)		
NET CHANGE IN CASH	(45,407)	(133,254)		
CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD	81,801	186,873		
CASH, END OF PERIOD	<u>\$ 36,394</u>	\$ 53,619		
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information				
Cash paid for interest expense	¢	\$ -		
	<u>\$</u> - \$ -			
Cash paid for income taxes	<u>\$</u>	\$ -		
Non-cash operating and financing activities:				
Convertible debt and accrued interest converted to common stock	\$ -	\$ 283,202		
Stock issued for prepaid services	\$ 3,300	\$ 23,500		
F-F	Ψ 5,500	25,500		

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Seafarer Exploration Corp. ("Seafarer" or the "Company") are unaudited, but in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to fairly state the Company's financial position, results of operations, and cash flows as of and for the dates and periods presented. The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") for interim financial information.

These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and footnotes included in the Company's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") on March 31, 2022. The results of operations for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the entire year ending December 31, 2022 or for any future period.

NOTE 1 – DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Seafarer Exploration Corp. ("Seafarer" or the "Company"), was incorporated on May 28, 2003 in the State of Delaware.

The principal business of the Company is to engage in the archaeologically-sensitive exploration, documentation, recovery, and conservation of historic shipwrecks with the objective of exploring and discovering Colonial-era shipwrecks for future generations to be able to appreciate and understand.

In March of 2014, Seafarer entered into a partnership with Marine Archaeology Partners, LLC ("MAP"), with the formation of Seafarer's Quest, LLC ("SQ") for the purpose of exploring a shipwreck site off of Melbourne Beach, Florida. Under the partnership with MAP, Seafarer is the designated manager of SQ.

The Company's wholly owned subsidiary Blockchain LogisTech, LLC ("Blockchain"), was formed on April 4, 2018 and began operations in 2019. The Company is evaluating Blockchain's business opportunities and does not believe that Blockchain will generate any significant revenues for the foreseeable future.

The Company formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Exploration Studios, LLC, in May 2018 in order to explore media strategies and opportunities. Exploration Studios, LLC has not yet commenced operations.

Florida Division of Historical Resources Agreements/Permits

The Company successfully renewed its permits for both Areas 1 and 2 for the Melbourne Beach site. The Area 1 permit was renewed on March 1, 2019 for a period of three years. The Area 2 permit was renewed on January 14, 2019 for a period of three years. Per Florida Statutes, Seafarer made a timely request for renewal of the 2019 permit for Area 2 on July 29, 2021. In January of 2022, Seafarer received notification from the Florida Division of Historical Resources ("FDHR") that its permit for Area 2, which was set to expire on January 19, 2022, has been continued indefinitely while the renewal request was being processed. The existing permits will continue until the renewal is finalized or rejected. Per Florida Statutes, Seafarer made a timely request for renewal of the 2019 permit for Area 1 on July 29, 2021. On March 2, 2022, Seafarer received notification that the permit would continue indefinitely with the same terms as Area 2.

Federal Admiralty Judgement

Seafarer was granted, through the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, a final judgment for its federal admiralty claim on the Juno Beach shipwreck site. The Company is conducting limited exploration operations at the Juno Beach shipwreck site while it awaits updated permitting from the Army Corp of Engineers and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection.

Blockchain Software Services Referral Agreements

Management is reviewing potential alternate plans for Blockchain and believes that it is highly unlikely that Blockchain will generate revenue during 2022.

NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN

These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. The Company has incurred net losses since inception and has an accumulated deficit of \$24,615,275 as of September 30, 2022. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company's net loss was \$2,065,064 and at September 30, 2022, the Company had a working capital deficit of \$1,937,960. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on its historical rate of expenditures, the Company expects to expend its available cash in less than one month from November 14, 2022. Management's plans include raising capital through the issuance of common stock and debt to fund operations and, eventually, the generation of revenue through its business. The Company does not expect to generate any significant revenues for the foreseeable future. The Company is in immediate need of further working capital and is seeking options, with respect to financing, in the form of debt, equity or a combination thereof.

Failure to raise adequate capital and generate adequate revenues could result in the Company having to curtail or cease operations. The Company's ability to raise additional capital through the future issuances of the common stock is unknown. Additionally, even if the Company does raise sufficient capital to support its operating expenses and generate adequate revenues, there can be no assurances that the revenue will be sufficient to enable it to develop to a level where it will generate profits and cash flows from operations. These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern; however, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. These unaudited consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recovery of the recorded assets or the classifications of the liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

Covid-19 Disclosure

The COVID-19 global pandemic may have a serious negative affect on the Company's operations and business. It is possible that this ongoing global pandemic may cause the Company to have to significantly delay or suspend its operations, which would likely result in a material adverse impact on its business and financial positions.

Furthermore, the Company may be unable to raise sufficient capital due to COVID-19's effects on the general economy and the capital markets. If the Company is not able to obtain financing due to COVID-19, then it is highly likely that it will be forced to cease operations. Smaller companies such as Seafarer, who lack significant revenues, earnings and cash flows as well as who lack diversified business operations are particularly vulnerable to having to potentially cease operations due to the effects of COVID-19. If the Company were to be unable to raise capital and cease its operations then it would be highly likely that the Company would not survive and lenders and investors would suffer a complete loss of all capital loaned to or invested in the Company.

Current Economic Conditions

The Company and certain of its advisors are closely monitoring current domestic economic conditions. Of particular concern is the rate of inflation that has been reported as being near a forty year high and had recently increased nearly 7% on a year-over-year basis from 2020 to 2021 and the rising cost of fuel. The increasing inflation in the overall economy may lead to higher interest rates which may make it more expensive or potentially more challenging for the Company to access financing. Additionally, the Company's vessels use large amounts of fuel when in operation and the recent rise in the per gallon cost of gasoline will cause an increase in the Company's operating expenses. The increase in the cost of fuel may hamper the Company's ability to conduct operations.

The Company is also aware of the recent decision by the U.S. Federal Reserve to raise interest rates. The rising interest rate environment may have a significant material negative effect on the Company's business and operations. Higher interest rates may make it more expensive, or potentially impossible, for the Company to raise capital to fund its operations. If the Company is unable to successfully raise capital, then it is highly likely that it will be forced to cease operations which may result in investors losing the entirety of their investment in the Company.

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This summary of significant accounting policies of Seafarer Exploration Corp. is presented to assist in understanding the Company's consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements and notes are representations of the Company's management, who are responsible for their integrity and objectivity. These accounting policies conform to GAAP and have been consistently applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and Blockchain which is a wholly owned subsidiary. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments and short-term debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. There were no cash equivalents at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits. Accounts at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to \$250,000. At September 30, 2022, the Company did not have deposits in excess of the FDIC insured limit.

Research and Development Expenses

Expenditures for research and development are expensed as incurred. The Company incurred research and development expenses of \$157,876 and \$323,052 for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively and \$16,669 and \$112,610 for the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which is included in operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 606, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers" ("ASC 606") and all the related amendments. The Company elected to adopt this guidance using the modified retrospective method. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The core principle of ASC 606 requires that an entity recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASC 606 defines a five-step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than required under GAAP, including identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation.

The Company recognizes revenue from the referrals that Blockchain has made to providers of software services when payment for a referral is received from the provider of software services. Blockchain, at its sole discretion and with no specific sales quotas or targets, provides referrals of potential end users to the software service providers and is paid a referral fee only after the software services providers receive payment from the end user.

The Company also has a separate sales referral agreement, with no sales quotas or specific goals or targets, with a limited liability company that provides product/system engineering and development services. The Company's performance obligation is met when the payment from the customer is received by the provider of the development services, which is at a point in time. The Company receives referral fees when payment is received from the provider of the product/system development services which is when the Company recognizes revenue under the agreement.

The Company recognizes revenue when cash is received or when it has met its obligations per the terms of a contract or agreement for services. Payments received for services not yet provided are recorded as deferred revenue and are recognized as revenue when the services have been provided.

During the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company entered into an agreement to provide scanning services using its SeaSearcher technology to a corporation involved in searching for historic shipwreck material. Under the terms of the agreement the Company received an upfront payment of \$140,000 which has been included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 as deferred revenue, as the services have not yet been provided.

Earnings Per Share

The Company has adopted the FASB ASC 260-10, *Earnings per Share*, which provides for the calculation of "basic" and "diluted" earnings per share. Basic earnings per share includes no dilution and is computed by dividing net income or loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution of securities that could share in the earnings of an entity.

The potentially dilutive common stock equivalents for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 were excluded from the dilutive loss per share calculation as they would be antidilutive due to the net loss. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, there were approximately 730,366,968 and 673,692,795 shares of common stock underlying our outstanding convertible notes payable and warrants, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities, such as cash, accounts payable, accrued expenses, convertible notes payable and payables, approximate their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at historical cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.

Depreciation expense was \$16,395 for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and \$5,465 for the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which is included in operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 360-10, *Impairment and Disposal of Long Lived Assets*, the Company, on a regular basis, reviews the carrying amount of long-lived assets for the existence of facts or circumstances, both internally and externally, that suggest impairment. The Company determines if the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is impaired based on anticipated undiscounted cash flows, before interest, from the use of the asset. In the event of impairment, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset. Fair value is determined based on appraised value of the assets or the anticipated cash flows from the use of the asset, discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved. There were no impairment charges recorded during the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021.

Use of Estimates

The process of preparing consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions regarding certain types of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Significant estimates for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 include useful life of property, plant and equipment, valuation allowances against deferred tax assets and the fair value of non cash equity transactions.

Segment Information

During 2019, Seafarer's wholly owned subsidiary, Blockchain began operations, generated revenue and incurred expenses. The business of Blockchain has no relation to the Company's shipwreck exploration and recovery operations other than common ownership. As such, the Company concluded that the operations of Blockchain and Seafarer Exploration were separate reportable segments for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 (see Note 10 – Segment Information).

Convertible Notes Payable

The Company accounts for convertible notes deemed conventional and conversion options embedded in non-conventional convertible notes which qualify as equity under ASC 815, *Derivatives and Hedging*, in accordance with the provisions of ASC 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*, which provides guidance on accounting for convertible securities with beneficial conversion features. ASC 470-10 addresses classification determination for specific obligations, such as short-term obligations expected to be refinanced on a long-term basis, due-on-demand loan arrangements, callable debt, sales of future revenue, increasing rate debt, debt that includes covenants, revolving credit agreements subject to lock-box arrangements and subjective acceleration clauses. Accordingly, the Company records, as a discount to convertible notes, the intrinsic value of such conversion options based upon the differences between the fair value of the underlying common stock at the commitment date of the note transaction and the effective conversion price embedded in the note. Debt discounts under these arrangements are amortized over the term of the related debt.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company applies the fair value method of FASB ASC 718, *Share Based Payment*, in accounting for its stock-based compensation. The standard states that compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized over the service period. The Company values stock-based compensation at the market price for the Company's common stock and other pertinent factors at the grant date.

Fully vested and non-forfeitable shares issued prior to the services being performed are classified as prepaid expenses.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases under Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-02. At the inception of a contract the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. The Company's assessment is based on: (1) whether the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, (2) whether the Company obtains the right to substantially all the economic benefit from the use of the asset throughout the period, and (3) whether it has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company will allocate the consideration in the contract to each lease component based on its relative stand-alone price to determine the lease payments.

Operating lease right of use ("ROU") assets represents the right to use the leased asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. As most leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the adoption date in determining the present value of future payments. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is presented in operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.

As permitted under the new guidance, the Company has made an accounting policy election not to apply the recognition provisions of the guidance to short term leases (leases with a lease term of twelve months or less that do not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise); instead, the Company will recognize the lease payments for short term leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments

The Company follows ASC 325-20, Cost Method Investments, to account for its ownership interest in noncontrolled entities. Under ASC 325-20, equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values (i.e., non-marketable equity securities) and are not required to be accounted for under the equity method are typically carried at cost (i.e., cost method investments). Investments of this nature are initially recorded at cost. Income is recorded for dividends received that are distributed from net accumulated earnings of the noncontrolled entity subsequent to the date of investment. Dividends received in excess of earnings subsequent to the date of investment are considered a return of investment and are recorded as reductions in the cost of the investment. Investments are written down only when there is clear evidence that a decline in value that is other than temporary has occurred.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation allowance is provided for the amount of deferred tax assets that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

All other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB, did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4 - OPERATING LEASE AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND OPERATING LEASE LIABILITIES

Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized at the present value of the future lease payments at the lease commencement date. The interest rate used to determine the present value is the incremental borrowing rate, estimated to be 10%, as the interest rate implicit in most of the Company's leases are not readily determinable. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company leases 823 square feet of office space located at 14497 North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 209-N, Tampa, Florida 33618. The Company entered into an amended lease agreement commencing on July 1, 2020 through July 31, 2023 with base month rents of \$1,475 from July 1, 2020 to September 30, 2021, \$1,519 from July 1, 2021 to September 30, 2022, \$1,564 from July 1, 2022 to September 30, 2023 and \$1,611 from July 1, 2023 to July 31, 2023. Under the terms of the lease there may be additional fees charged above the base monthly rental fee.

On July 1, 2020, upon renewal of the lease, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and lease liability of \$48,957. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded and \$13,802 as operating lease expense, which is included in rent expense on the consolidated statements of operations. During the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded \$4,601 as operating lease expense, which is included in rent expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

Right-of-use assets at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 are summarized below:

	Septemb	er 30, 2022	Decen	nber 31, 2021
Office lease	\$	48,957	\$	48,957
Less accumulated amortization		(34,197)		(21,946)
Right of use assets, net	\$	14,760	\$	27,011

Operating Lease liabilities are summarized below:

	Septembe	December 31, 2021		
Office lease	\$	15,232	\$	27,594
Less: current portion		(15,232)		(16,876)
Long term portion	\$	-	\$	10,718

Maturity of lease liabilities are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2022	\$ 4,729
Year ended December 31, 2023	11,081
Total future minimum lease payments	15,810
Less: Present value discount	(578)
Lease liability	\$ 15,232

The Company also has an operating lease for a house located in Palm Bay, Florida that it leases on a month-to-month basis for \$1,400 per month. The Company uses the house to store equipment and gear and to provide temporary work-related living quarters for its divers, personnel, consultants and independent contractors involved in its exploration and recovery operations. The Company also pays a rental fee for a space in a park on an as needed basis.

NOTE 5 – CONVERTIBLE NOTES PAYABLE AND NOTES PAYABLE

Upon inception, the Company evaluates each financial instrument to determine whether it meets the definition of "conventional convertible" debt under ASC 470.

Convertible Notes Payable

The following tables reflect the convertible notes payable at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

				2022 rincipal Balance	Pı	2021 rincipal Balance	Rate	Price
Convertible notes payable – related parties				Jaianee	ı,	aiance		
convertible notes payable Telated parties	10/31/21	04/13/22	\$	_	\$	3,000	2.00%	0.0020
	11/10/21	05/10/22	Ψ	_	Ψ	3,000	2.00%	0.0020
	07/06/22	01/06/23		20,000		-	6.00%	0.0150
	07/29/22	01/29/23		10,000		_	6.00%	0.0020
	08/04/22	02/04/23		10,000		_	6.00%	0.0020
Face Value				40,000	_	6,000		
Less unamortized discounts				-		(3,864)		
Balance convertible notes payable – related parties			\$	40,000	\$	2,136		
1	Issue Date	Maturity Date	_	tember 30,	Dec	ember 31, 2021	Rate	Conversion Price
	issue Date	Date		rincipal Balance	Pı	rincipal Balance	Rate	11100
Convertible notes payable - in default								
	08/28/09	11/01/09	\$	4,300	\$	4,300	10.00%	0.0150
	11/20/12	05/20/13		50,000		50,000	6.00%	0.0050
	01/19/13	07/30/13		5,000		5,000	6.00%	0.0040
	02/11/13	08/11/13		9,000		9,000	6.00%	0.0060
	09/25/13	03/25/14		10,000		10,000	6.00%	0.0125
	10/04/13	04/04/14		50,000		50,000	6.00%	0.0125
	05/15/14	11/15/14		40,000		40,000	6.00%	0.0070
	09/18/15	03/18/16		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0020
	07/19/16	07/19/17		4,000		4,000	6.00%	0.0015
	03/06/18	09/06/18		6,000		6,000	6.00%	0.0006
	02/06/18	11/07/18		6,000		6,000	6.00%	0.0006
	01/03/19	07/03/19		1,000		1,000	6.00%	0.0010
	09/04/19	03/04/20		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0030
	08/31/22	09/29/22		50,000			6.00%	0.0020
Balance convertible notes payable - in default		.4	\$	285,300	\$	235,300		

	Issue Date	Maturity Date	20	nber 30, 022	December 31, 2021		Rate	Conversion Price
				icipal ance		rincipal Salance		
Convertible notes payable - related parties, in default								
	01/09/09	01/09/10	\$	10,000	\$	10,000	10.00%	0.0150
	01/25/10	01/25/11		6,000		6,000	6.00%	0.0050
	01/18/12	07/18/12		50,000		50,000	8.00%	0.0040
	01/19/13	07/30/13		15,000		15,000	6.00%	0.0040
	07/26/13	01/26/14		10,000		10,000	6.00%	0.0100
	01/17/14	07/17/14		31,500		31,500	6.00%	0.0060
	05/27/14	11/27/14		7,000		7,000	6.00%	0.0070
	07/21/14	01/25/15		17,000		17,000	6.00%	0.0080
	10/16/14	04/16/15		21,000		21,000	6.00%	0.0045
	07/14/15	01/14/16		9,000		9,000	6.00%	0.0030
	01/12/16	07/12/16		5,000		5,000	6.00%	0.0020
	05/10/16	11/10/16		5,000		5,000	6.00%	0.0005
	05/10/16	11/10/16		5,000		5,000	6.00%	0.0005
	05/20/16	11/20/16		5,000		5,000	6.00%	0.0005
	07/12/16	01/12/17		2,400		2,400	6.00%	0.0006
	01/26/17	03/12/17		5,000		5,000	6.00%	0.0005
	02/14/17	08/14/17		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0008
	08/16/17	09/16/17		3,000		3,000	6.00%	0.0008
	03/14/18	05/14/18		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0007
	04/04/18	06/04/18		3,000		3,000	6.00%	0.0007
	04/11/18	06/11/18		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0007
	05/08/18	07/08/18		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0007
	05/30/18	08/30/18		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0007
	06/12/18	09/12/18		3,000		3,000	6.00%	0.0007
	06/20/18	09/12/18		500		500	6.00%	0.0007
	01/09/18	01/09/19		12,000		12,000	6.00%	0.0006
	08/27/18	02/27/19		2,000		2,000	6.00%	0.0007
	10/02/18	04/02/19		1,000		1,000	6.00%	0.0008
	10/23/18	04/23/19		4,200		4,200	6.00%	0.0007
	11/07/18	05/07/19		2,000		2,000	6.00%	0.0008
	11/14/18	05/14/19		8,000		8,000	6.00%	0.0008
	01/08/19	07/08/19		7,000		7,000	6.00%	0.0008
	04/25/19	12/23/19		20,000		20,000	6.00%	0.0040
	06/07/19	12/07/19		5,100		5,100	6.00%	0.0030
	09/17/19	04/17/20		12,000		12,000	6.00%	0.0030
	11/12/19	05/12/20		25,000		25,000	6.00%	0.0025
	11/26/19	05/26/20		25,200		25,200	6.00%	0.0030
	12/03/19	06/03/20		15,000		15,000	6.00%	0.0030
	01/07/20	06/20/20		51,000		51,000	6.00%	0.0030
	08/06/20	02/06/21		25,200		25,200	6.00%	0.0035
	08/06/20	02/06/21		35,000		35,000	6.00%	0.0035
	08/14/20	02/14/21		50,400		50,400	6.00%	0.0035
	10/13/21	04/13/22		3,000		-	2.00%	0.0020
	11/10/21	05/10/22		3,000		-	2.00%	0.0020
Balance convertible notes payable - related parties, in default			\$	644,500	\$	638,500		
Balance all convertible notes payable				969,800	\$	875,936		
p			Ψ	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Ψ	010,750		

Notes Payable

The following tables reflect the notes payable at September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

	Issue Date	Maturity Date	P	tember 30, 2022 rincipal Balance	P	eember 31, 2021 rincipal Balance	Rate
Notes payable			•	Jaianee		Jaianee	
pagasa	12/08/21	01/08/22	\$	_	\$	50,000	6.00%
Balance notes payable			\$	-	\$	50,000	
	Issue Date	Maturity Date	Sep	tember 30, 2022	Dec	eember 31, 2021	Rate
				rincipal Balance		rincipal Balance	
Notes payable - in default							
•	04/27/11	04/27/12	\$	5,000	\$	5,000	6.00%
	12/14/17	12/14/18		8,000		18,000	6.00%
	11/29/17	11/29/19		105,000		105,000	2.06%
Balance notes payable – default			\$	118,000	\$	128,000	
	Issue Date	Maturity Date	Sep	tember 30, 2022	Dec	eember 31, 2021	Rate
			Principal Balance		Principal Balance		
Notes payable - related parties, in default			•	Janunee		Juliunee	
• •	02/24/10	02/24/11	\$	7,500	\$	7,500	6.00%
	10/06/15	11/15/15		10,000		10,000	6.00%
	02/08/18	04/09/18		1,000		1,000	6.00%
Balance notes payable - related parties, in default			\$	18,500	\$	18,500	
Balance all notes payable			\$	136,500	\$	196,500	
	16						

New Notes Payable and Convertible Notes Payable Issued During the Nine Month Periods Ended September 30, 2022 and 2021

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 the Company entered into the following new convertible note or notes payable agreements:

In July of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$20,000 with a related party who is a member of the Board of Directors. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest is due on or before January 6, 2023. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.015 per share.

In July of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$10,000 with a related party who is a member of the Board of Directors. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest is due on or before January 29, 2023. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.002 per share.

In August of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$10,000 with a related party who is a member of the Board of Directors. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest is due on or before February 4, 2023. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.002 per share.

In August of 2022, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement in the amount of \$5,000 with a related party. This note paid interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest was due on or before August 26, 2022. The lender received 500,000 shares of the Company's restricted common stock as a loan origination fee. The note was repaid and the balance at September 30, 2022 was \$0.

In August of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$50,000 with an individual. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest was due on or before September 29, 2022. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.002 per share. This convertible not payable is in default due to non payment of principal and accrued interest.

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, the Company did not enter into any new convertible notes payable or notes payable agreements.

Repayment of Promissory Notes

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company repaid a total of \$50,000 of the principal of a promissory note with an original principal balance of \$50,000 that was due on January 8, 2022.

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, the Company repaid a total of \$10,000 of the principal of a promissory note with an original principal balance of \$75,000 that was due on December 14, 2018. The remaining principal balance of the note at September 30, 2022 was \$8,000.

Note Conversions

There were no conversions of convertible promissory notes during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022.

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2021:

The Company issued 8,734,640 shares of restricted common stock to a related party to settle \$20,302 of accrued interest owed on sixteen convertible notes payable, with a total share value of \$57,648.

The Company issued 15,594,247 shares of restricted common stock to a convertible note holder to settle \$45,000 of the principal balance and \$1,783 of accrued interest on a convertible note payable with a total share value of \$79,530.

The Company issued 35,615,390 shares of restricted common stock to a convertible note holder to settle \$73,000 of the principal balance and \$28,761 of accrued interest on four convertible notes payable with a total share value of \$146,024.

Shareholder Loan

At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had the following loans outstanding to its CEO in the total amounts of \$14,400 and \$7,900, respectively, as follows:

- A loan with no due date with a remaining balance of \$1,500 and an interest rate of 2% and a conversion rate of \$0.0005;
- A loan due on October 26, 2021 with a remaining balance of \$4,000 and an interest rate of 1%;
- A loan due on January 22, 2022 with a remaining balance of \$1,400 and an interest rate of 1%;
- A loan due on January 26, 2022 with a remaining balance of \$1,000 and an interest rate of 1%;
- A loan due on June 16, 2022 with a remaining balance of \$3,000 and an interest rate of 1%; and
- A loan due on September 9, 2022 with a remaining balance of \$3,500, and an interest rate of 1%.

Collateralized Promissory Notes

Two convertible notes outstanding with related parties, dated January 9, 2009 and January 18, 2012 are collateralized by Company assets.

Convertible Notes Payable and Notes Payable, in Default

The Company does not have additional sources of debt financing to refinance its convertible notes payable and notes payable that are currently in default. If the Company is unable to obtain additional capital, such lenders may file suit, including suit to foreclose on the assets held as collateral for the obligations arising under the secured notes. If any of the lenders file suit to foreclose on the assets held as collateral, then the Company may be forced to significantly scale back or cease its operations, which would more than likely result in a complete loss of all capital that has been invested in or borrowed by the Company. The fact that the Company is in default of several promissory notes held by various lenders makes investing in the Company or providing any loans to the Company extremely risky with a very high potential for a complete loss of capital.

NOTE 6 – IMPAIRMENT OF ASSET

During 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a corporation to lease a boat for use in its operations. Under the agreement the Company agreed to pay the owner of the boat \$2,000 per month until a total of \$85,000 was paid, at which point title of the boat would be transferred to the Company. The boat was damaged while in use and the Company has agreed to pay the boat's owner the full value of the contractual agreement for the lease purchase of the boat. The Company has estimated a full loss on the boat during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 and wrote off the contractual value of the boat, \$85,000, which is included in the consolidated statements of operations as a loss on sale of asset. The amount due as of September 30, 2022 of \$85,000 has been included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets in accounts payable and accrued expenses.

NOTE 7 – STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

Series A Preferred Stock

At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had seven shares of Series A preferred stock issued and outstanding. Each share of Series A preferred stock has the right to convert into 214,289 shares of the Company's common stock.

Series B Preferred Stock

On February 10, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company under the authority granted under Article V of the Articles of Incorporation, defined and created a new preferred series of shares from the 50,000,000 authorized preferred shares. Pursuant to Article V, the Board of Directors has the power to designate such shares and all powers and matters concerning such shares. Such share class shall be designated Preferred Class B. The preferred class was created for 60 Preferred Class B shares. Such shares each have a voting power equal to one percent of the outstanding shares issued (totaling 60%) at the time of any vote action as necessary for share votes under Florida law, with or without a shareholder meeting. Such shares are non-convertible to common stock of the Company and are not considered as convertible under any accounting measure. Such shares shall only be held by the Board of Directors as a Corporate body, and shall not be placed into any individual name. Such shares were considered issued at the time of this resolution's adoption, and do not require a stock certificate to exist, unless selected to do so by the Board for representational purposes only. Such shares are considered for voting as a whole amount, and shall be voted for any matter by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Such shares shall not be divisible among the Board members, and shall be voted as a whole either for or against such a vote upon the vote of the majority of the Board of Directors. In the event that there is any vote taken which results in a tie of a vote of the Board of Directors, the vote of the Chairman of the Board shall control the voting of such shares. Such shares have the authority to vote for all matters that require a share vote under Florida law and the Articles of Incorporation.

Warrants and Options

The Company did not issue any warrants or options during the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021.

At September 30, 2022 there were 4,000,000 warrants outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of \$0.005, weighted average reaming life of 0.13 years and an average intrinsic value of \$0.0.001. There were no warrants granted during the three month period ended September 30, 2022. At December 31, 2021, there were 4,000,000 warrants with a weighted average exercise price of \$0.005, weighted average reaming life of 0.92 years, and an average intrinsic value of \$0.001.

NOTE 8 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Agreement to Explore a Shipwreck Site Located off of Melbourne Beach, Florida

In March of 2014, Seafarer entered into a partnership with MAP, with the formation of Seafarer's Quest, LLC for the purpose of exploring a shipwreck site off of Melbourne Beach, Florida. Seafarer owns 50% of Seafarer's Quest, LLC and is handling the operations on behalf of Seafarer's Quest. To date there has been no significant financial activity in Seafarer's Quest. Under the partnership with MAP, Seafarer is the designated manager of Seafarer's Quest, LLC and is responsible for the costs of permitting, exploration and recovery. Seafarer is entitled to receive 80% and MAP is entitled to receive 20% of artifacts and treasure recovered from the site after the State of Florida receives its share, which is anticipated to be 20% under any future recovery permits. The permits with the State of Florida for two areas on the site, designated as Areas 1 and 2, were extended in early 2022 for an indefinite time period pending formal renewal. There are currently no recovery permits for the site that have been applied for or issued as of the date of this filing. It will be necessary to be granted a recovery permit in order to recover any artifacts and treasure that may potentially be located on the site. The required, affiliated environmental permits from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers ("USACE") and Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("FLDEP') were previously issued in the name of a partner that is no longer active. In 2020 Seafarer worked with the various State of Florida Bureau of Archeological Research ("FBAR") had ordered the Company not to disturb the ocean's bottom while the changes and updates to the Company's permits were in process. Some requests of change are questionable to the Company. Since the issuance of the USACE and FLDEP environmental permits, FBAR has continued to stop or delay ground disturbance in Seafarer's legally permitted area with ongoing questions and requests.

Certain Other Agreements

See Note 4 Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities.

NOTE 9 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company has had extensive dealings with related parties including the following:

In May of 2022, the Company's CEO provided a loan to the Company in the amount of \$3,000. This loan pays interest at a rate of 1% per annum and the principal and accrued interest was due on or before June 17, 2022.

In July of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$20,000 with a related party who is a member of the Board of Directors. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest is due on or before January 6, 2023. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.015 per share.

In July of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$10,000 with a related party who is a member of the Board of Directors. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest is due on or before January 29, 2023. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.002 per share.

In August of 2022, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note agreement in the amount of \$10,000 with a related party who is a member of the Board of Directors. This note pays interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest is due on or before February 4, 2023. The note is unsecured and is convertible at the lender's option into shares of the Company's common stock at a rate of \$0.002 per share.

In August of 2022, the Company's CEO provided a loan to the Company in the amount of \$3,500. This loan pays interest at a rate of 1% per annum and the principal and accrued interest was due on or before September 9, 2022.

In August of 2022, the Company entered into a promissory note agreement in the amount of \$5,000 with a related party. This note paid interest at a rate of 6% per annum and the principal and accrued interest was due on or before August 26, 2022. The lender received 500,000 shares of the Company's restricted common stock as a loan origination fee. The note was repaid and the balance at September 30, 2022 was \$0.

Additional related party transactions:

The Company has an informal consulting agreement with a limited liability company that is owned and controlled by a person who is related to its CEO to provide general business consulting services including periodically assessing the Company's business and advising management with respect to an appropriate business strategy on an ongoing basis, commenting on proposed corporate decisions, perform period background research including background checks and provide investigative information on individuals and companies and to assist, when needed, as an administrative specialist to perform various administrative duties and clerical services including reviewing the Company's agreements and books and records. The consultant provides the services under the direction and supervision of the Company's CEO. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid the related party limited liability company consulting fees of \$22,000 and \$9,000, respectively, for services rendered. During the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid the related party limited liability company consulting fees of \$5,000 and \$2,000, respectively, for services rendered. These fees are recorded as an expense in consulting and contractor expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The Company has an ongoing agreement with a limited liability company that is owned and controlled by a person who is related to the Company's CEO to provide stock transfer agency services. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company paid the related party limited liability company fees of \$6,478 and \$11,225, respectively, for services rendered. During the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid the related party limited liability company consulting fees of \$0 and \$2,300, respectively, for services rendered. These fees are recorded as an expense in consulting and contractor expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid a related party consultant fees of \$27,000 and \$20,000, respectively. During the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid a related party consultant fees of \$9,000. All of the fees paid to the related party consultant are recorded as an expense in consulting and contractor expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, the Company has had extensive dealings with related parties including the following:

In April of 2021, Seafarer's CEO provided a loan to the Company in the amount of \$6,000. The loan pays a 1% annual rate of interest, is due and payable on October 26, 2021 and is not secured.

In October of 2021, Seafarer's CEO provided a loan to the Company in the amount of \$1,400. The loan pays a 1% annual rate of interest, was due and payable on January 25, 2022 and is not secured.

In October of 2021, Seafarer's CEO provided a loan to the Company in the amount of \$1,000. The loan pays a 1% annual rate of interest, was due and payable on January 26, 2022 and is not secured.

The Company issued 8,734,640 shares of restricted common stock to a related party to settle \$20,302 of accrued interest owed on sixteen convertible notes payable.

At September 30, 2022, the following promissory notes and shareholder loans were outstanding to related parties:

See Note 5 convertible notes payable - related parties, convertible notes payable - related parties, in default, and notes payable - related parties, in default.

NOTE 10 – SEGMENT INFORMATION

Seafarer's wholly owned subsidiary Blockchain began operations in 2019 by providing referrals to a private company in exchange for referral fees for closed business.

Due to Blockchain starting operations which have no relation to the Company's shipwreck and exploration recovery business, the Company evaluated this business and its impact upon the existing corporate structure. The Company has determined that Blockchain and Seafarer Exploration Corp. operate as separate segments of the business. As such, the Company has presented the income (loss) from operations during the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 incurred by the two separate segments below.

During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, Blockchain did not generate any revenues. The Company is currently evaluating Blockchain's business and does not believe that it will generate any revenues for the foreseeable future.

Segment information relating to the Company's two operating segments for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 is as follows:

	September 30, 2022	September 30,	September 30, 2022		
	Blockchain LogisTech, LLC	Seafarer Explorati	on Corp.	C	onsolidated
Service revenues	\$ -	\$	11,127	\$	11,127
Total operating expenses	-	1	1,919,812		1,919,812
Net loss from operations	\$ -	\$ (1	1,908,685)	\$	(1,908,685)

Segment information relating to the Company's two operating segments for the nine month period ended September 30, 2021 is as follows:

	Septe	September 30, 2021		September 30, 2021		September 30, 2021	
	Blockcha	in LogisTech, LLC	Seafa	rer Exploration Corp.		Consolidated	
Service revenues	\$	-	\$	18,922	\$	18,922	
Total operating expenses		29,386		1,618,340		1,647,726	
Net loss from operations	\$	(29,386)	\$	(1,599,418)	\$	(1,628,804)	

NOTE 11- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to September 30, 2022, the Company issued or has agreed to issue shares of its common stock as follows:

- (i) sales of 203,192,473 shares of restricted common stock under subscription agreements for proceeds of \$420,000;
- (ii) issuance of 25,221,918 shares of restricted common stock to settle \$50,444 of principal and accrued interest of one convertible notes payable; and
- (iii) 4,020,005 shares of restricted common stock were issued for services totaling \$12,000.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The following discussion contains certain forward-looking statements that are subject to business and economic risks and uncertainties, and which speak only as of the date of this annual report. No one should place strong or undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. The use in this Form 10-Q of such words as "believes", "plans", "anticipates", "expects", "intends", and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. The Company's actual results or actions may differ materially from these forward-looking statements due to many factors and the success of the Company is dependent on our efforts and many other factors including, primarily, our ability to raise additional capital. Such factors include, among others, the following: our ability to continue as a going concern, general economic and business conditions; competition; success of operating initiatives; our ability to raise capital and the terms thereof; changes in business strategy or development plans; future revenues; the continuity, experience and quality of our management; changes in or failure to comply with government regulations or the lack of government authorization to continue our projects; and other factors referenced in the Form 10-Q. This Item should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, the related notes and with the understanding that the Company's actual future results may be materially different from what is currently expected or projected by the Company.

We caution readers not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. Such forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs and estimates of our management, as well as on assumptions made by and information currently available to us at the time such statements were made. Forward looking statements are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual events or results to differ from those reflected in the forward looking statements, including, without limitation, the failure to successfully locate cargo and artifacts from shipwreck sites and a number of other risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements, either as a result of the matters set forth or incorporated in this Report generally and certain economic and business factors, some of which may be beyond our control.

We disclaim any obligation subsequently to revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events.

Overview

General

The Company's principal business plan is to develop the infrastructure and technology to engage in the archaeologically-sensitive exploration, recovery and conservation of historic shipwrecks and to eventually monetize the recovery of the shipwrecks without selling the treasure by creating revenue through media and technology alternatives for different industry sectors. Once artifacts have been properly conserved, they may be made available for scientific research and allowed to be displayed for the public. The Company's secondary business is to attempt to develop revenue streams to support its historic shipwreck exploration and recovery operations. Such revenue streams will complement the technology developed by Seafarer.

The Company has received from the Florida Department of State a notice of lack of authority to permit or deny recovery activities on the unidentified shipwreck on Juno Beach. The Florida Bureau of Archaeological Research (the "Bureau" or "FBAR"), Division of Historical Resources, Florida Department of State stated to Seafarer "The shipwreck is non-permittable pursuant to Rule 1A-31.0045(2), F.A.C." The Bureau cited an order dated November 14, 2017 where the United States District Court entered a Final Order of Court Default and Final Judgement Granting Award for Admiralty in Rem. The District Court's order ruled "Seafarer is hereby the true, sole, and exclusive owner of the Defendant Shipwrecked Vessel and having exclusive right to conduct recovery operation on the Defendant Shipwrecked Vessel and any items recovered therefrom." Additional permitting will still be necessary with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Applications have been made to both entities and the Company has been told they are currently processing the permits.

In order to potentially find more efficient methods to explore and document historical shipwrecks, the Company has investigated various technologies and non-scientific methodologies. To the present date, none of these technologies have been proven to work with the exception of the SeaSearcher, which has been developed to scan historic shipwreck sites for both ferrous and nonferrous artifacts. The ongoing developmental work and improvements to the SeaSearcher which been expensive and management anticipates that the expenses for these development costs will continue to be incurred for the foreseeable future. Advances in algorithms and artificial intelligence (AI) will continue indefinitely while the present model can be currently used in the field. The Company will continue to experiment with unproven technologies and will actively work with third parties, consultants and scientists to develop its own proprietary technology which has and will result in considerable expenses. The Company has completed field usage on the Ring site in Area 2 of Melbourne Beach where multiple non precious metals were properly identified under the sand at various depths.

The Company continues to review revenue producing opportunities including joint ventures and partnerships with other companies and potentially governmental agencies which could potentially align with the technologies that Seafarer is developing.

There is a possibility that the Company will be forced to cease its operations if it is not successful in eventually locating and recovering valuable artifacts and treasure or can't build a revenue stream to offset its expenses. If the Company were to cease its operations, and not find or engage another business entity, then it is likely that there would be complete loss of all capital invested in or borrowed by the Company. As such, an investment in Seafarer is both highly speculative and risky.

This type of business venture is highly speculative in nature and carries a very high degree of risk. An investment in the Company's securities is very risky and should only be considered by those investors or lenders who do not require liquidity and who can afford to suffer a total loss of their investment.

There is currently a limited trading market for the Company's securities. It is impossible for the Company to assure when and if an active-trading market in its shares will be established, or whether any such market will be sustained or sufficiently liquid to enable holders of shares of the Company's common stock to liquidate their investment in our company.

The issuance and subsequent sale of restricted securities, after the restrictive legend has been removed pursuant to regulatory rules and restrictions such as Rule 144, by current shareholders, including shares issued under subscription agreements, shares issued to service providers, as well as shares issued to settle convertible promissory notes or to settle other loans and debt, is potentially highly dilutive and may cause a significant decline in the market price of the Company's securities. Furthermore, in recent years regulatory agencies have made it very difficult for broker dealers to accept stock certificates from issuers of low priced stocks and the Company believes that it may become, and has become, even more challenging to deposit stock certificates and this trend may continue for the foreseeable future.

Moreover, in the past few years several major brokerage firms have indicated that they will not allow their clients to deposit stock certificates of low priced stocks. Some securities clearing firms who used to clear low priced securities for multiple brokerage firms have shut down or been acquired, resulting in fewer brokerage firms that are willing or able to accept lower priced securities for deposit. Unless an investor has a large and well-established relationship with a brokerage firm, it may be extremely difficult and potentially expensive to deposit lower priced securities. An investor should consider consulting with professional financial advisers before making an investment in our securities. The Company is a current and fully reporting company and has been for almost fourteen years.

Plan of Operation

The Company has taken the following steps to implement its business plan:

- To date, the Company has devoted its time towards establishing its business to develop the infrastructure capable of researching, exploring, recovering and conserving historic shipwrecks. The Company has performed some research, exploration and recovery activities.
- Spent considerable time and capital researching potential shipwrecks, including obtaining information from foreign archives.
- The Company has worked in combination with its technology development partner, Wild Manta Labs, to build a research and conservation lab with full x-ray equipment and detailed metal identification analysis.
- The Company has generated very limited revenues to date. Management does not believe that the Company will generate any significant revenues for the foreseeable future.

- The Company continues to review revenue producing opportunities including joint ventures with other companies. The Company is actively looking to work with revenue producing companies. These opportunities have been slow to develop, but the Company will continue to pursue those endeavors that it believes have the potential to increase the value of the Company's shares.
- The Company has investigated various types of equipment and technology to expedite the process of finding artifacts other than iron or ferrous metals. Most have been of no help, but the Company continues to explore new technologies. The Company has developed its own proprietary technology, the SeaSearcher, and will attempt to continue to develop additional proprietary technologies or work with third parties to develop technologies to aid in its exploration and recovery operations. Development of technologies will require additional time and financing. The cost of developing the new technology has, to date, been very expensive for a small company.
- The Company has investigated media opportunities to develop content centered on its specific historic shipwreck exploration and recovery activities as well as the historic shipwreck and related historical period genre in general and will continue to evaluate various media strategies.

Other Information

There are very strict international, federal and state laws that govern the exploration and recovery of historic shipwrecks. While the Company has been able to obtain some permits, there is no guarantee that the Company will be able to secure future permits or enter into agreements with government agencies in order to explore and recover historic shipwrecks. Seafarer believes they are the only company to be issued a full recovery permit by FBAR since 1986, other than one entity with an Admiralty Claim. This demonstrates the difficulty of obtaining a recovery permit from FBAR. There is a risk that government entities may enact legislation that is so strict that any recovery of artifacts and cargo from historic shipwrecks will be nearly impossible. Additionally, permits and agreements with governmental agencies to conduct historic shipwreck exploration and recovery operations are expensive, in terms of both direct costs and ongoing compliance costs. It is also possible that the Company will not be successful in obtaining title or permission to excavate certain wrecks, even if the law allows it. It is possible that permits that are sought for potential future international projects may never be issued, and if issued, may not be legal or honored by the entities that issued them. For the above reasons, the Company has extended its research into shipwrecks outside of State waters.

It is possible that permits that are sought for potential future international projects may never be issued, and if issued, may not be legal or honored by the entities that issued them. Governmental agencies may require various types of permits to explore shipwreck sites, and the permitting process is often lengthy and complex. Obtaining permits and entering into agreements with governmental and quasi-governmental agencies to conduct historic shipwreck exploration and recovery operations is generally a very complex, time consuming, and expensive process. Furthermore, the process of entering into agreements and/or obtaining permits may be subject to lengthy delays, possibly in excess of a year. Some governmental agencies may refuse to issue permits to the Company for recovery of artifacts or intentionally delay the permitting process, or go beyond their authority and request halting of ground disturbance.

The reasons for a lengthy permitting process may be due to a number of potential factors including but not limited to requests by permitting agencies for additional information, submitted applications that need to be revised or updated, newly discovered information that needs to be added to an application or agreement, changes to either the agreement or permit terms or revisions to other information contained in the permit, excessive administrative time lags at permitting agencies, work halts based on biased predispositions with no authority given by rule 1A-31, etc. Existing permits and agreements may be put on hold or suspended without notice for lengthy periods of time due to administrative issues and disagreements over the terms and conditions. The length of time it takes to obtain permits, enter into agreements, or rectify any conditions that are causing a permit to be suspended or on hold may cause, and has caused, the Company to expend significant resources while gearing up to do work with little or no visibility as to timing.

The Company regularly reviews opportunities to perform exploration and recovery operations at purported historic shipwreck sites. The Company currently does have some specific plans to perform exploration and recovery operations at other shipwreck sites in the future, however these plans are subject to change based on a number of factors. The Company is actively reviewing other potential historic shipwreck sites, including sites located internationally, for possible exploration and recovery. Should the Company decide that it will pursue exploration and recovery activities at other potential shipwreck sites, it may be necessary to obtain various permits as well as environmental permits.

The Company continually monitors media rights for potential revenue opportunities. The Company has had discussions with media entities to further understand the potential advantages offered. Management believes various forms of media can represent a potential future revenue opportunity for the Company, if the right circumstances arise. The Company is exploring opportunities and strategies to develop media content based on its exploration activities with a goal of potentially generating revenue through social media platforms.

This type of business venture is extremely speculative in nature and carries a tremendous amount of risk. An investment in the Company's securities is highly speculative and very risky and should only be considered by those investors or lenders who do not require near-term liquidity and who can afford to suffer a total loss of their investment.

Results of Operations

We have generated only minimal revenue from operations and do not expect to report any significant revenue from operations for the foreseeable future. We have incurred recurring losses to date. Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern and, accordingly, do not include adjustments relating to the recoverability and realization of assets and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue in operation.

The Company expects to continue to incur significant operating losses and to generate negative cash flow from operating activities, while building out its infrastructure in order to explore and salvage historic shipwreck sites and establishing itself in the marketplace. Based on our historical rate of expenditures, the Company expects to expend its available cash in less than one month from November 14, 2022.

At September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had working capital deficits of \$1,937,960 and \$1,668,699 respectively. The Company's working capital deficit, along with its lack of meaningful cash flows from operations with which to service the debt, indicates that there is substantial risk to the continued viability of the Company. The Company is in immediate need of further working capital and is seeking options, with respect to financing, in the form of debt, equity or a combination thereof.

Since inception, the Company has funded its operations through common stock issuances and loans in order to meet its strategic objectives; however, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain further funds to continue with its efforts to establish a new business. There is a very significant risk that the Company will be unable to obtain financing to fund its operations and as such the Company may be forced to cease operations at any time which would likely result in a complete loss of all capital that has been invested in and/or borrowed by the Company to date.

The Company's ability to eliminate operating losses and to generate positive cash flow from operations in the future will depend upon a variety of factors, many of which it is unable to control. If the Company is unable to implement its business plan successfully, it may not be able to eliminate operating losses, generate positive cash flow or achieve or sustain profitability, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operations, and financial results, as well as its ability to make payments on its debt obligations, and the Company may be forced to cease operations.

If the Company is unable to secure additional financing, our business may fail and our stock price will likely be materially adversely affected. The Company's lack of operating cash flow and reliance on the sale of its common stock and loans to fund operations is extremely risky. If the Company is unable to continue to raise capital or obtain loans or other financing on terms that are acceptable to the Company, or at all, then it is highly likely that the Company will be forced to cease operations. If the Company ceases its operations, then it is highly likely that all capital invested in and/or borrowed by the Company will be lost.

Summary of the Three Month Period Ended September 30, 2022 Results of Operations Compared to the Three Month Period Ended September 30, 2021 Results of Operations

Revenue

The Company's core business involving the exploration and recovery of historic shipwrecks has not generated any revenues to date and is not expected to generate any significant revenues for the foreseeable future. During the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company generated \$4,907 and \$5,548 of revenue respectively, which is shown as service income on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were \$546,807 for the three month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$558,352 for the same period in 2021, a decrease of approximately 2.1%. Consulting and contractor expense was \$280,948 for the three month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$275,361 for the same period in 2021, an increase of 2%. The Company incurred vessel related expenses of \$36,923 during the three month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$28,108 during the three month period ended September 30, 2021, an increase of approximately 31.4%. Vessel related expenses periodically fluctuate due to a variety of factors, during the three month period ended September 30, 2022 the Company incurred higher vessel related fuel and maintenance costs. The research and development expenses were \$16,669 in 2022 versus \$112,610 in 2021. The Company's research and development expenses were related to the continued development of its SeaSearcher autonomous underwater device. The decrease in research and development expenses in 2022 were partially due to the Company accruing some of the fees owed for research and development. During the three month period ended September 30, 2022, professional fees were \$9,000 as compared to \$14,008 during the three month period ended September 30, 2021, a decrease of approximately 35.8%. Professional fees declined in 2022 due to the Company using fewer legal services. During the three month period ended September 30, 2022, general and administrative expenses were \$166,804 as compared to \$83,048 during the three month period ended September 30, 2021, an increase of 101%. The primary reason for the increase in general and administrative expenses in 2022 was due to the Company renting a boat for use in operations. Depreciation expense was \$5,465 during the three month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021. Rent expense was \$9,144 during the three month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$9,052 for the same period in 2021, an increase of approximately 1.0%. The Company incurred travel and entertainment expenses of \$21.854 during the three month period ended September 30, 2022 as compared to \$30,700 during the three month period ended September 30, 2021, an approximate 29% decrease on a quarter-overquarter basis.

Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expense) was (\$123,277) during the three month period ended September 30, 2022 versus (\$51,968) during the three month period ended September 30, 2021. Interest expense for the three month period ended September 30, 2022 was \$17,027 versus \$25,761 for the same period in 2021, a decrease of approximately 33.9%. The decrease in interest expense was mostly due to a decrease in the amortization of interest relating to the beneficial conversion features of several convertible notes. Loss on extinguishment of debt was \$21,250 during the three month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$44,258 during the same period in 2021. During the three month period ended September 30, 2022, loss on sale of asset was \$85,000 versus \$0 in 2021. The loss on sale of asset in 2022 was due to the Company writing off the value of a boat that it was leasing and had agreed to purchase The Company decided to write off the value of the boat because it became damaged. During the three month period ended September 30, 2022, gain on disposal of asset was \$0 versus \$18,500 in 2021. The gain on disposal of asset in 2021 was due to the sale of one of the Company's salvage vessels that had been fully depreciated.

Net Loss

The Company's net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was \$665,177, and \$604,772 respectively, a quarter-over-quarter increase of approximately 10.0%.

Summary of the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 2022 Results of Operations Compared to the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 2021 Results of Operations

Revenue

The Company's core business involving the exploration and recovery of historic shipwrecks has not generated any revenues to date and is not expected to generate any significant revenues for the foreseeable future. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company generated \$11,127 and \$18,922 of revenue respectively, which is shown as service income on the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses were \$1,919,812 for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$1,647,726 for the same period in 2021, an increase of 16.5%. The increase in operating expenses in 2022 was primarily due to increases in consulting and contractor expenses, vessel related maintenance and dockage expenses, and general and administrative fees. Consulting and contractor expense was \$1,164,348 for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$787,301 for the same period in 2021, an increase of nearly 47.9%. The Company had increased activity during 2022 and utilized additional consulting services and independent contractors for its operations. The Company incurred vessel related expenses of \$129,837 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$74,311 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, an increase of approximately 75%. The primary reason for the increase in vessel related expenses in 2022, were increases in fuel costs and the Company made several major repairs and upgrades to its owned and leased vessels. Research and development expenses were \$157,876 in 2022 versus \$323,052 in 2021. The Company's research and development expenses were related to the development of its SeaSearcher autonomous underwater device. The Company's Research and development expenses decreased in 2022 due to the early stage development of the SeaSearcher having been completed. The Company believes that it will continue to expend significant resources to further develop the SeaSearcher and to begin developing next generation versions of the technology. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, professional fees were \$41,271 as compared to \$68,808 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, a decrease of approximately 40.0%. Professional fees decreased during the nine month period ended September 30,2022 due to the Company using fewer legal services. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, general and administrative expenses were \$317,703 as compared to \$287,312 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, an increase of 10.6%. Depreciation expense was \$16,395 during the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021. Rent expense was \$35,724 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$30,526 for the same period in 2021, an increase of approximately 17.0%. Rent expense increased primarily due to the overall increases in rents due to the inflation resulting from current economic activities and the Company leased some space for one of its archaeological consultants during time that the consultant was required to be on the site of one of the Company's historic shipwreck locations. The Company incurred travel and entertainment expenses of \$56,658 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 as compared to \$60,021 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, an approximate 6% decrease.

Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expense) was \$(156,379) during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 versus (\$199,644) during the nine month period ended September 30, 2021, a decrease of \$43,265. The 21.7% decrease in other income (expense) in 2022 was primarily due to decreases in loss on extinguishment of debt and interest expense. Loss on extinguishment of debt was \$21,250 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 versus \$121,847 during the same period in 2021, a decrease of 82.6%. The decrease on the loss from extinguishment of debt was due to fewer conversions of the principal and accrued interest of several of convertible promissory notes. Interest expense for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 was \$50,129 versus \$95,848 for the same period in 2021, a decrease of approximately 48%. The decrease in interest expense was mostly due to a decrease in the amortization of interest relating to the beneficial conversion features of several convertible notes. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, loss on sale of asset was \$85,000 versus \$0 in 2021. The loss on sale of asset in 2022 was due to the Company writing off the value of a boat that it was leasing and had agreed to purchase. The Company decided to write off the value of the boat because it became damaged. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, gain on disposal of asset was \$0 versus \$18,500 in 2021. The gain on disposal of asset in 2021 was due to the sale of one of the Company's salvage vessels that had been fully depreciated.

Net Loss

The Company's net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 was \$2,065,064, and \$1,828,448, respectively, a year-over-year increase of approximately 13.0%.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 net cash flows used in operating activities was \$1,486,681.

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2021 net cash flows used in operating activities was \$1,263,704.

Cash flows used in operating activities increased in 2022 due to the increased net loss, an increase in the amortization of unearned compensation, a loss on the disposal of an boat related asset and an increase in services by various service providers.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 net cash flows used in investing activities was (\$145).

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2021 net cash flows used in investing activities was \$18,500.

Cash flows used in investing activities decreased due to the Company not receiving the proceeds from the disposal of an asset in 2022, whereas in 2021 the Company received \$18,500 from the disposal of an asset.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 net cash provided by financing activities was \$1,441,419.

For the nine month period ended September 30, 2021 net cash provided by financing activities was \$1,111,950.

Cash flows used in financing activities primarily increased in 2022 due to an increase in the procees from the issuance of common stock and proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes payable and convertible notes payable to related parties.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 30, 2022, the Company had \$36,394 cash in the bank. During the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company incurred net losses of \$2,065,064, and \$1,828,448, respectively. At September 30, 2022, the Company had \$37,144 in current assets and \$1,975,104 in current liabilities, leaving the Company a working capital deficit of \$1,937,960.

Lack of Liquidity

A major financial challenge and significant risk facing the Company is a lack of positive cash flow and liquidity. The Company continued to operate with significant debt and a working capital deficit during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022. This working capital deficit indicates that the Company is unable to meet its short-term liabilities with its current assets. This working capital deficit is extremely risky for the Company as it may be forced to cease its operations due to its inability to meet its current obligations. If the Company is forced to cease its operations, then it is highly likely that all capital invested in and/or borrowed by the Company will be lost.

The expenses associated with being a small publicly traded company attempting to develop the infrastructure to explore and salvage historic shipwrecks recovery are extremely prohibitive, especially given that the Company does not currently generate any significant revenues and does not expect to generate any significant revenues in the near future. There are ongoing expenses associated with operations that are incurred whether the Company is conducting shipwreck recovery operations or not. Vessel maintenance, upkeep expenses and docking fees are continuous and unavoidable regardless of the Company's operational status. Management anticipates that the vessels utilized by the Company in its operations will need continuous and unavoidable repairs and maintenance, particularly if the Company ramps up its operational footprint and is working on more than one site simultaneously as anticipated. These repairs and maintenance are expensive and have a negative impact on the Company's cash position.

In addition to the operation expenses, a publicly traded company also incurs the significant recurring corporate expenses related to maintaining publicly traded status, which include, but are not limited to accounting, legal, audit, executive, administrative, corporate communications, rent, telephones, etc. The recurring expenses associated with being a publicly traded company are very burdensome for smaller public companies such as Seafarer. This lack of liquidity creates a very risky situation for the Company in terms of its ability to continue operating, which in turn makes owning shares of the Company's common stock extremely risky and highly speculative. The Company's lack of liquidity may cause the Company to be forced to cease operations at any time which would likely result in a complete loss of all capital invested in or borrowed by the Company to date.

Due to the fact that the Company does not generate any revenues and does not expect to generate revenues for the foreseeable future it must rely on outside equity and debt funding. The combination of the ongoing operating expenses that must be met even during times when there is little or no exploration or recovery activities taking place, and corporate expenses, creates a very risky situation for the Company and its shareholders in terms of the need to access external financing to fund operations. This working capital shortfall and lack of access to cash to fund corporate activities is extremely risky and may force the Company to cease its operations which would more than likely result in a complete loss of all capital invested in or loaned to the Company to date.

Lack of Revenues and Cash Flow/Significant Losses from Operations

The exploration and recovery of historic shipwrecks requires a multi-year, multi-stage process and it may be many years before any significant revenue is generated from exploration and recovery activities, if ever. The Company does not believe that it will generate any significant revenues in the near future. The Company believes that it may be several years before it is able to generate any cash flow from its operations, if any are ever generated at all. Without revenues and cash flow the Company does not have reliable cash flow to pay its expenses. The Company relies on outside financing in the form of equity and debt and it is possible that the Company may not be able to obtain outside financing in the future. If the Company is not able to obtain financing it would more than likely be forced to cease operations and all of the capital that has been invested in or borrowed by the Company would be lost.

If the Company is unable to secure additional financing, our business may fail or our operating results and our stock price may be materially adversely affected. The raising of additional financing would in all likelihood result in dilution or reduction in the value of the Company's securities.

The Company may not be able to continue as a going concern. If the Company is not able to continue as a going concern, it is highly likely that all capital invested in the Company or borrowed by the Company will be lost. The report of our independent auditors for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 raises substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, we have experienced operating losses in every year since our inception resulting in an accumulated deficit. If the Company is not able to continue as a going concern, it is highly likely that all capital invested in the Company or borrowed by the Company will be lost.

The Company has experienced a net loss in every fiscal year since inception. The Company's losses from operations were \$1,908,685 for the nine month period ended September 30, 2022 and \$1,628,804 for the nine month period ended September 30, 2021. The Company believes that it will continue to generate losses from its operations for the foreseeable future and the Company may not be able to generate a profit in the long-term, or ever.

Additionally, the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic may cause the Company to be unable to obtain financing to fund its business and operations. If the Company is not able to obtain financing due to COVID-19 then it is highly likely that it will be forced to cease its operations which would likely result in the Company not surviving which would result in a complete loss of all capital invested in the Company.

Convertible Notes Payable and Notes Payable, in Default

The Company does not have additional sources of debt financing to refinance its convertible notes payable and notes payable that are currently in default. If the Company is unable to obtain additional capital, such lenders may file suit, including suit to foreclose on the assets held as collateral for the obligations arising under the secured notes. If any of the lenders file suit to foreclose on the assets held as collateral, then the Company may be forced to significantly scale back or cease its operations which would more than likely result in a complete loss of all capital that has been invested in or borrowed by the Company. The fact that the Company is in default regarding several loans held by various lenders makes investing in the Company or providing any loans to the Company extremely risky with a very high potential for a complete loss of capital.

The convertible notes that have been issued by the Company are convertible at the lender's option. These convertible notes represent significant potential dilution to the Company's current shareholders as the convertible price of these notes is generally lower than the current market price of the Company's shares. As such when these notes are converted into equity there is typically a highly dilutive effect on current shareholders and very high probability that such dilution may significantly negatively affect the trading price of the Company's common stock. Furthermore, management intends to have discussions or has already had discussions with several of the promissory note holders who do not currently have convertible notes regarding converting their notes into equity. Any such amended agreements to convert promissory notes into equity would more than likely have a highly dilutive effect on current shareholders and there is a very high probability that such dilution may significantly negatively affect the trading price of the Company's common stock. Some of these note holders have already amended their notes and converted the notes into equity. Based on conversations with other note holders, the Company believes that additional note holders will amend their notes to contain a convertibility clause and eventually convert the notes into equity.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments which affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities (see Note 3, Significant Accounting Policies, contained in the notes to the Company's consolidated financial statements for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 contained in this filing). On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions which we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities which are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates based upon different assumptions or conditions; however, we believe that our estimates are reasonable.

Management is aware that certain changes in accounting estimates employed in generating financial statements can have the effect of making the Company look more or less profitable than it actually is. Management does not believe that the Company has made any such changes in accounting estimates.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

None.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Management's Responsibility for Controls and Procedures

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company's financial reporting. The Company's controls over financial reporting are designed under the supervision of the Company's Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as of September 30, 2022. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our financial disclosure controls and procedures were not effective so as to timely record, process, summarize and report financial information required to be included on our Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") reports due to the Company's limited internal resources and lack of ability to have multiple levels of transaction review. However, as a result of our evaluation and review process, management believes that the financial statements and other information presented herewith are materially correct.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As of September 30, 2022, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operations of our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and based on the criteria for effective internal control described in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (as revised). Based on our evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective so as to timely record, process, summarize and report financial information required to be included on our Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") reports due to the Company's limited internal resources and lack of ability to have multiple levels of transaction review. However, as a result of our evaluation and review process, management believes that the financial statements and other information presented herewith are materially correct.

Management, including its Principal Executive Officer/Principal Financial Officer, does not expect that its disclosure controls and procedures, or its internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of the control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefit of controls must be considered relative to their costs.

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

The Company has limited resources and as a result, a material weakness in financial reporting currently exists, because of our limited resources and personnel, including those described below.

- * The Company has an insufficient quantity of dedicated resources and experienced personnel involved in reviewing and designing internal controls. As a result, a material misstatement of the interim and annual financial statements could occur and not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
- * We have not achieved the optimal level of segregation of duties relative to key financial reporting functions.
- * We do not have an audit committee or an independent audit committee financial expert. While not being legally obligated to have an audit committee or independent audit committee financial expert, it is Management's view that to have an audit committee, comprised of independent board members, and an independent audit committee financial expert is an important entity-level control over the Company's financial statements.

A material weakness is a deficiency (within the meaning of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) auditing standard 5) or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Management has determined that a material weakness exists due to a lack of segregation of duties, resulting from the Company's limited resources and personnel.

Remediation Efforts to Address Deficiencies in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As a result of these findings, management, upon obtaining sufficient capital and operations, intends to take practical, cost-effective steps in implementing internal controls, including the possible remedial measures set forth below. As of September 30, 2022 we did not have sufficient capital and/or operations to implement any of the remedial measures described below:

- * Assessing the current duties of existing personnel and consultants, assigning additional duties to existing personnel and consultants, and, in a cost effective manner, potentially hiring additional personnel to assist with the preparation of the Company's financial statements to allow for proper segregation of duties, as well as additional resources for control documentation.
- * Assessing the duties of the existing officers of the Company and, in a cost effective manner, possibly promote or hire additional personnel to diversify duties and responsibilities of such executive officers.
- * Board to review and make recommendations to shareholders concerning the composition of the Board of Directors, with particular focus on issues of independence. The Board of Directors will consider nominating an audit committee and audit committee financial expert, which may or may not consist of independent members.
- * Interviewing and potentially hiring outside consultants that are experts in designing internal controls over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") (as revised).

This report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only management's report in this annual report.

(b) Change in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company has not made any change in our internal control over financial reporting during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022.

Part II. Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

On September 3, 2014, the Company filed a lawsuit against Darrel Volentine, of California. Mr. Volentine was sued in two counts of libel per se under Florida law, as well as a count for injunction against the Defendant to exclude and prohibit internet postings. Such lawsuit was filed in the Circuit Court in Hillsborough County, Florida. Such suit is based upon internet postings on www.investorshub.com. On or about October 15, 2015, the Company and Volentine entered into a stipulation whereby Volentine admitted to his tortious conduct, however the stipulated damages agreed to were rejected by the Court, and the Company is proceeding to trial on damages against Volentine in a non-jury trial on December 1, 2015. The Defendant is the subject of a contempt of court motion which was heard on April 7, 2016, whereby the Court found a violation and modified the injunction against the Defendant, and imposed other matters of potential penalties against the Defendant. The Court also awarded attorney's fees against the Defendant on behalf of Seafarer for such motion. The Defendant subsequently attempted to have such ruling, evidence and testimony attacked through a motion heard before the Court on October 24, 2016. The Court dismissed the Defendant's motion after presentation of the Defendant's case at the hearing. The Plaintiff has set the matter for entry of the attorney's fees amount due from the Defendant for hearing in December 2016. As well the Plaintiff has set for hearing its motion for sanctions in the form of attorney's fees for frivolous filing of the October 24th motion, which motion is also set for hearing in December 2016. The Plaintiff filed a renewed and amended motion for punitive damages in the case on September 11, 2016, which has not been set for hearing. The Defendant had also filed a motion for summary judgment on the matter of notice entitlement pre-suit, which motion is pending before the Court. The Plaintiff filed a motion for sanctions against the Defendant for the motion for summary judgment being frivolous under existing law, and such motion is pending ruling on the motion. On December 7, 2016, the Court held a hearing on the Defendant's motion for sanctions, and essentially attempting to rehear the motion for contempt against the Defendant. The Court dismissed the Defendant's motions, and renewed the ability of the Company to seek attorney's fees on such matter, which hearing has not been set at present. On February 28, 2017, the Court entered an Order denying the Defendant's motion for summary judgment. The Company has filed a motion for punitive damages in March 2021 to be added to the cause of action and to be heard by the Court. The counsel for Volentine filed a motion to withdraw which was granted on March 7, 2021, and Volentine was given 60 days to obtain new counsel or proceed without such. The Company is seeking to get such matter to trial as soon as possible. Volentine, as of the date of this publication, has not obtained new counsel.

On April 17, 2020, the Company filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court in and for Hillsborough County, Florida against Michael Torres ("Torres"), regarding fraud, fraud in the inducement, breach of contract and civil theft under Florida law, as well as for injunctive relief to cancel shares issued. Such shares are currently locked up with the transfer agent pending ruling of the Court. The civil theft claim seeks triple the damages for monies paid to Torres, plus attorney's fees and costs. Torres filed a motion to dismiss which was denied by the Circuit Court on July 28, 2020. Torres filed a general denial in an answer. Seafarer was in the discovery phase of the case when both sides agreed to a mediation of the matter. Mediation of the case occurred in January 2021, and the parties reached a confidential settlement agreement which is formally being entered, which includes cancellation of all shares issued to Torres. The case will officially be closed with entry of the final judgment accepting the settlement.

On January 18, 2022, Seafarer received notification from the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit that 61,183,646 restricted common shares from the Defendant could be returned to the Plaintiff. On January 19, 2022, such shares were returned to the treasury stock of Seafarer and accounted for by Seafarer's transfer agent. The settlement also included "Defendant (Torres) has agreed and hereby it is recognized by the Court that Defendant has made a full retraction of his assertions..." and agreed to pay back an undisclosed amount of money to Seafarer that the Company does not anticipate being able to collect.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 2. Recent Sales and Other Issuances of Unregistered Securities

During the three month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company issued 14,345,328 shares for various services. The Company believes that the issuance of the securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act as a transaction by an issuer not involving any public offering and based on the fact that such securities were issued for services to sophisticated or accredited investors and persons who are thoroughly familiar with the Company's proposed business by virtue of their affiliation with the Company.

On various dates during the three month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company entered into subscription agreements to sell 153,123,189 shares of its restricted common stock in exchange for proceeds of \$338,231. The proceeds received were used for general corporate purposes, working capital and repayment of some debt.

During the three month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company issued 500,000 shares of its restricted common stock for financing fees related to a note payable agreement.

Exemptions from Registration for Sales of Restricted Securities.

The issuance of securities referenced above were issued to persons who the Company believes were either "accredited investors," or "sophisticated investors" who, by reason of education, business acumen, experience or other factors, were fully capable of evaluating the risks and merits of an investment in us; and each had prior access to all material information about us. None of these transactions involved a public offering. An appropriate restrictive legend was placed on each certificate that has been issued, prohibiting public resale of the shares, except subject to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") or in compliance with Rule 144. The Company believes that the offer and sale of these securities was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Act") thereof, and/or Regulation D. There may be additional exemptions available to the Company.

Repurchase of Securities

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2022, the Company did not purchase any shares of its common stock and the Company is not likely to purchase any shares in the foreseeable future.

Stock Option Grants

The Company does not have any compensatory stock option grants outstanding at this time.

Warrants

The Company did not issue any warrants during the nine month period ended September 30, 2022. Please see Note 7 - Stockholders' Deficit for a list of warrants outstanding at September 30, 2022.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

The Company has several promissory notes and loans that are currently in default to non-payment of principle and interest. See Note 5 – Convertible Notes Payable and Notes Payable for a listing of the debt obligations of the Company that are in default.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None

Item 6. Exhibits

Set forth below is a list of the exhibits to this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

Exhibit	
Number	Description
*31.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
	amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
	amended, and 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
<u>99.1</u>	Temporary Hardship Exemption
**101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded
101.1105	within the Inline XBRL document.
**101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
**101 C A I	Inline VDDI Tananana Entancian Calculation Limbers Decomposit
**101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
**101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
**101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
**101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
**104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

^{*} Filed herewith.

^{**} To be furnished by amendment per Temporary Hardship Exemption under Regulation S-T.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SEAFARER EXPLORATION CORP.

Date: November 14, 2022	By: /s/ Kyle Kennedy Kyle Kennedy President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
Date: November 14, 2022	By: /s/ Charles Branscum Charles Branscum, Director
Date: November 14, 2022	By: /s/ Robert L. Kennedy Robert L. Kennedy, Director
Date: November 14, 2022	By: /s/ Thomas Soeder Thomas Soeder, Director
Date: November 14, 2022	By: /s/ Bradford Clark Bradford Clark, Director
	33

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kyle Kennedy, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Seafarer Exploration Corp., for the three months ended September 30, 2022;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its condensed subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
 - d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 - a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
 - b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting.

Dated: November 14, 2022

By: /s/ Kyle Kennedy

Kyle Kennedy

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board (Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and acting Principal Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Seafarer Exploration Corp. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Kyle Kennedy, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: November 14, 2022

By: /s/ Kyle Kennedy

Kyle Kennedy

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board (Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and acting Principal Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 99.1

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TEMPORARY HARDSHIP EXEMPTION PROVIDED BY RULE 201 OF REGULATION S-T, THE DATE BY WHICH THE INTERACTIVE DATA FILE IS REQUIRED TO BE SUBMITTED HAS BEEN EXTENDED BY NINE BUSINESS DAYS.